JAMES	JAMES CALVIN WILLIAN	AS -	APPELLANT
V.	V.	FILED	NO. 2008-KA-1767-COA
STATE (STATE OF MISSISSIPPI	MAR 2 0 2009 Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appenle	APPELLEE
Т	·		
in the our			
may eval	_		
1.		BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT	
2.			
3.			
4			
T			
MISSISS 301 Nort	MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF I Hunter N Aikens, MS Bar N 301 North Lamar Street, Sui Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: 601-576-4200 Counsel for James Calvin W	Io. 102195 ite 210	
Jackson, Telephor	Counsel for James Carvin w	A TITIOTITY	

TABLE OF CONTENT

1.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS i

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES			
STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS			
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT			
ARGUMENT I. THE STATE FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT WILLIAMS WAS A HABITUAL OFFENDER UNDER MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 99-19-81. 8 II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING WILLIAMS' MOTION TO SUPPRESS. 10 III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING MARK MITCHELL TO TESTIFY THAT HE TRACED THE GUN'S HISTORY OF OWNERSHIP, AND WILLIAMS' WAS NOT LISTED AS A PURCHASER. 19			
CONCLUSION			
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE			

ii

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES

Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 499, 103 S.Ct. 1319 (1983)
Tllinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123, 120 S.Ct. 673, 675 (2000)
Pulliam v. City of Horn Lake, Mississippi, 32 F.3d 565 (5th Cir. 1994)
Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 30, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968)
U.S. v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 881, 95 S.Ct. 2574 (1975)
STATE CASES
Barker v. State, 241 So. 2d 355, 358 (Miss. 1970)
Carr v. State, 770 So. 2d 1025 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000)
Clark v. State, 960 So. 2d 521, 524
Dies v. State, 926 So. 2d 910, 918
Floyd v. City of Crystal Springs, 749 So. 2d 110, 113
Harper v. State, 635 So. 2d 864 (Miss. 1994)
Jones v. State, 841 So. 2d 115, 126
Kea v. State, 986 So.2d 358, 361
King v. State, 994 So. 2d 890, 897
Letow v. U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co., 120 Miss. 763, 83 So. 81 (Miss. 1919)
McCray v. State, 486 So. 2d 1247, 1250 (Miss. 1986)
McFarlin v. State, 883 So. 2d 594, 598
McNeal v. State, 617 So. 2d 999, 1007 (Miss. 1993)
Moore v. State, 755 So. 2d 1276, 1279

iii

Paramount-Richards Theatres v. City of Hattiesburg, 49 So.2d 574 (Miss.1950)
Rainer v. State, 944 So. 2d 115, 118
Sartain v. City of Water Valley, 528 So. 2d 1125 (Miss. 1988)
Short v. State, 929 So. 2d 420, 427
Smith v. State, 128 So.2d 857 (Miss. 1961)
Vince v. State, 844 So. 2d 510, 517-18
Walker v. State, 881 So. 2d 820, 827
STATE STATUTES
Miss. Code Ann. § 63-1-3 (Rev. 2004)
Miss. Code Ann. § 63-7-7
Miss. Code Ann. § 97-37-5(1) (Rev.2006)
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-81
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-3-7
Miss. Code Ann. §99-3-7(1)
Mississippi Code Annotated Section 21-13-19
Mississippi Code Annotated Sections 63-7-7
Section 23 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890

f i j

iv

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES CALVIN WILLIAMS

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-1767-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE STATE FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT WILLIAMS WAS A HABITUAL OFFENDER UNDER MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 99-19-81.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING WILLIAMS' MOTION TO SUPPRESS.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING MARK MITCHELL TO TESTIFY THAT HE TRACED THE GUN'S HISTORY OF OWNERSHIP, AND WILLIAMS' WAS NOT LISTED AS A PURCHASER.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds form the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for the crime of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon entered against James Calvin Williams following a jury trial held on October 1, 2008, the Honorable Robert Helfrich, Circuit Judge, presiding. (C.P. 25-26, R.E. 5-7). Williams was sentenced as a habitual offender

pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-19-81, and the trial court ordered him to serve a term of ten (10) years. (C.P. 25-26, Tr. 126-127, R.E. 6-7). The trial court denied Williams' motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or, in the alternative, for a new trial. (C.P. 30-33, R.E. 8-10). Williams is presently incarcerated in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections and now appeals to this Court for relief.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Williams lived at 614 Martin Luther King Avenue in Hattiesburg, Mississippi. (Tr. 74). On August 30, 2007, Williams was riding his bicycle on the sidewalk along his street at about 2:20 a.m. (Tr. 67). Officers Kyle Stuart and Brandon Jones of the Hattiesburg Police Department were patrolling the area. (Tr. 67). Officer Jones was following behind Officer Stuart in a separate patrol car. (Tr. 80). No crimes in the area had been reported that night. (Tr. 75,).

As the officers pulled onto Williams' street they noticed him riding his bike down the sidewalk—an act the officers considered "unusual" and/or "suspicious." (Tr. 67, 80). In this regard, Officer Stuart testified that "[Williams] was right around [Rowand Elementary] school" and he was riding his bike in "a high crime area." (Tr. 67). And according to Officer Jones, "it's very suspicious to have a - - for someone to be riding that early in the morning in front of an elementary school riding down the sidewalk. No one else is out. Pretty much everybody is in home in bed." (Tr. 80).

Allegedly, the officers believed that Williams was violating city ordinances by riding his bicycle on a city sidewalk and failing to have the proper "safety reflectors and the head lamp that it's supposed to." (Tr. 67, 80). So, they decided to stop Williams who, at the time, was only three or four houses down from his own home. (Tr. 67-68, 74, 80-81). Both Officer Stuart and Officer Jones testified that they had no intention of arresting Williams at this time. (Tr. 76, 81). Officer

Jones testified as to his intent:

- Q. What was your intention at that point?
- A. To conduct a field contact report, which is a form that we have at the Hattiesburg Police Department that when we out with people at this early hours in the morning in a high crime area, very well known for burglaries and different crimes of that nature, it's a form that we fill out their information, submit it into the detectives, and they have that kind of information in case a burglary was to occur at the Rowan Elementary School, they can go back and talk to that subject to find out if he saw anything or he might be a suspect at that time.

(Tr. 81). Officer Stuart also testified as to his intent:

- Q. But [Williams] was - he was doing nothing that raised any suspicion that he was doing anything dangerous when you saw him, was he?
- A. Other than the violations that were committed and us wanting to make a field contact with him.
- Q. Riding a bicycle down the sidewalk and you just wanted to see what he was doing there, right?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. You were patrolling for burglaries, drug users, and suspicious people, I believe is what you testified to a moment ago; is that correct?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And you had no reason to believe that he was a burglar, did you?
- A. At the time I wasn't aware.
- And you had no reason to believe that he was a drug user, did you?
- A. At the time I wasn't aware of it.
- Q. And so you just wanted to stop and just see why he was out there?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. All over riding a bicycle?

A. Yes, sir.

(Tr. 75).

As the officers approached, Williams peddled his bike into the Rowan Elementary School parking lot. (Tr. 67, 81). The officers followed and parked their cars in the parking lot without turning on their blue lights or a siren: "We did not approach it in any manner like that. It was just a casual encounter." (Tr. 82). Williams peddled his bike around the police cars and began to peddle away from the cars, apparently assuming that the police officers did not intend to stop him. (Tr. 67-69, 81-82). As Williams peddled away from the police cars, the officers were exiting their cars and ordered Williams to stop; Officer Jones then began chasing Williams, who wrecked his bicycle as he looked back. (Tr. 67-69, 82-83).

Officer Stuart started to join Officer Jones in the foot-chase but opted instead to pursue Williams in his car. (Tr. 69). However, by the time Officer Stuart got in his car and looked up, the pursuit of Williams had already ended; Officer Jones had already physically retrained Williams and was attempting to handcuff him. (Tr. 69). The distance between where the officers initially noticed Williams and where Williams wrecked his bike and was restrained by Officer Jones was only about fifty (50) or sixty (60) yards. (Tr. 69, 82).

According to the officers, Williams resisted being handcuffed and appeared to be reaching for his waistband. (Tr. 70, 83-84). Allegedly, a gun fell out of Williams' waistband as the officers

At trial, the officers testified that Williams's peddling of his bicycle around the police cars and away from them led them to believe that Williams was attempting to flee "because he did not stop," and "it seemed very obvious that he did not want to talk to us and wanted to get away from our presence." (Tr. 68, 81).

struggled to handcuff him. (Tr. 70, 84).2 Officer Stuart then drew his firearm and pointed it at Williams who was now unarmed, partially handcuffed, and physically restrained by Officer Jones. (Tr. 70). The officers recovered a 380 Loricin handgun from the ground. (Tr. 70-71, 84-85, Ex. S-2). After running Williams' information, the officers determined that he was a convicted felon, and

arrested him. (Tr. 73).

all statements and/or testimony pertaining to the firearm. (C.P. 12-13, R.E. 3-4). In his motion,

Prior to trial, Williams filed a motion to suppress evidence of the firearm, his identity, and

Williams argued that this evidence was obtained in violation of his rights under the Forth

Amendment to the United States Constitution and Section 23 of the Mississippi Constitution. (C.P.

12-13, R.E. 3-4).

At the hearing on the matter, only Officer Stuart testified. (Tr. 3-8). He testified generally in accordance with the facts stated above, i.e., that Williams was riding his bicycle down the sidewalk with no reflectors; the officers decided to stop him; Williams peddled around and away from the police cars; the officers ordered Williams to stop, Williams wrecked his bicycle as Officer Jones began to chase him; and a gun fell to the ground as the officers struggled to handcuff Williams. (Tr. 3-8). Officer Stuart acknowledged that the requirement that a bicycle have lights and reflectors applies only if the bicycle is operated on a highway (or street). (Tr. 7). He also admitted that he had

never written a ticket for riding a bicycle on the sidewalk or failing to have the proper reflectors on

a bicycle, and no vehicle or home had been reported stolen or broken into on the night in question.

At trial, Officer Stuart testified that, after the gun was recovered and Williams was handcuffed, he and Officer Jones searched Williams and found a holster on his waist. (Tr.

72). However, he also testified that the gun was in the holster when it fell to the ground. (Tr.

5

72).

(Tr. 7-8).

The State claimed that "police can approach an individual for the purpose of investigating possible criminal activities" and argued:

[I]t was 2a.m. in the morning on a dark street. This was around a high school that an individual was riding a bicycle on the sidewalk. Of course, any police officer is going to stop and do a brief question/answer asking him if he is okay.

(Tr. 10). The State also asserted that officers had "a reason to stop" Williams because he was riding his bike down the sidewalk in violation of "city ordinance 231," and the police had probable cause to arrest Williams when he "fled." (Tr. 10). The trial court denied Williams' motion to suppress, stating simply:

I believe the city ordinance is - - you cited a state statute, but I believe they had an adequate reason to approach Mr. Williams. When Mr. Williams ran is where the problem began. I note your motion to suppress and I'm going to overrule it in all particulars.

(Tr. 11).

The case proceeded to trial, at the conclusion of which, the jury found Williams guilty of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (Tr. 124, R.E. 5). At the sentencing hearing, the State attempted to prove that Williams was a habitual offender under Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-19-81. To do this the State relied on a certified copy of Williams' prior conviction for possession of a controlled substance in 1988, which was admitted into evidence during the State's case-in-chief. (Tr. 125-26). The State also claimed that Williams had a second prior felony conviction for grand larceny that occurred in 1992. (Tr. 126). The trial court asked to see the copies; however, a copy of Williams' alleged 1992 conviction for grand larceny does not appear as an exhibit. The trial court then asked Williams if he had anything to say before sentencing, and Williams asked for mercy. (Tr. 126). The trial court then asked Williams if he was the same "James Calvin Williams that was

convicted at least twice previously," to which he responded, "Yes, Sir." (Tr. 126). The trial court adjudged Williams a habitual offender under Section 99-19-81 and sentenced him to serve the maximum term of incarceration of ten (10) years without the possibility of parole, probation, or early release. (Tr. 126, 127, C.P. 25, R.E. 6-7).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Williams was a habitual offender under Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-19-81. A copy of Williams alleged conviction for grand larceny in 1992 (one of the two felonies the State relied on) does not appear in the record as an exhibit and is not listed as such in the court reporter's official transcript. Under this Court's holding in *Vince v. State*, 844 So. 2d 510, 517-18 (¶22-26) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003), Williams is entitled to have his sentence vacated; the judgment finding him a habitual offender reversed and rendered, and his case remanded for re-sentencing.

The trial court also erred in overruling Williams' motion to suppress. The officers' seizure of Williams and the firearm violated his rights under the Forth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 3, Section 23 of the Mississippi Constitution. The officers did not have the authority to arrest Williams, as a violation of a city ordinance alone (as opposes to violation of a State statute, regardless of whether an ordinance is involved) is not an "indictable offense" withing the meaning of our warrantless arrest statute, Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-3-7 (Rev. 2007). See Letow v. U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co., 120 Miss. 763, 83 So. 81 (Miss. 1919). Additionally, if Williams encounter with police is characterized as an investigatory stop, the officers had no basis to reasonably belief that Williams was armed at the time Officer Jones arrested Williams. Further, the officers conduct far exceeded the scope of an investigatory stop, in that, Williams was immediately arrested. Therefore, the gun was the product of an unreasonable seizure,

and the trial court erred in overruling Williams' motion to suppress. Consequently, this Court should reverse Williams' conviction and render a judgment of acquittal in his favor, as the State cannot establish the charge against him without evidence of the gun.

Finally, the trial court erred in allowing the State to elicit testimony from Sergeant Mark Mitchell regarding the results of an ATF gun trace and that Williams' name appeared nowhere on the trace as a purchaser. This evidence suggested that Williams obtained the gun by theft or other illegal means. Because the State is only required to prove mere possession, evidence as to the manner in which Williams obtained the gun was irrelevant and inadmissible. Further, the probative value of this evidence, *if any*, is clearly outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, and this evidence was inadmissable for this reason also. Because this evidence prejudiced Williams' defense by suggesting that he obtained the gun illegally, Williams is entitled to a new trial.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATE FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT WILLIAMS WAS A HABITUAL OFFENDER UNDER MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 99-19-81.

During sentencing, the State sought to prove that Williams was a habitual offender under Section 99-19-81. (Tr. 126). As explained above, the State attempted to submit into evidence a certified copy of Williams' prior offenses—a 1988 conviction for possession of a controlled substance, which was admitted during the guilt phase of the trial as Exhibit S-3 (Tr. 93, Ex. S-3) and an alleged 1992 conviction for grand larceny. (Tr. 126). However, a copy of the alleged 1992 grand larceny conviction does not appear in the record as an exhibit nor was it listed as such in the court reporter's official transcript. As explained below, the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Williams had two prior felony offenses, and he had received a sentence of at least on (1) year for each conviction.

Although, no challenge or objection was made by Reed's trial counsel, this Court may review issues as plain error where a fundamental right of the defendant has been impacted. *Jefferson v. State*, 958 S0. 2d 1276, 1281 (¶15) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Moore v. State*, 755 So. 2d 1276, 1279 (¶9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000)). A defendant has "a fundamental right to be free from an illegal sentence." *Clark v. State*, 960 So. 2d 521, 524 (¶9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Sneed v. State*, 722 So.2d 1255, 1257 (¶11) (Miss.1998)).

In order to sentence a defendant as a habitual offender under section 99-19-81, the State bears the burden of proving all of the section's elements beyond a reasonable doubt. *Vince v. State*, 844 So. 2d 510, 517 (¶22) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). Two of the essential elements the State must prove under Section 99-19-81 are that the defendant "shall have been convicted twice previously of any felony" for which the defendant "shall have been sentenced to separate terms of one (1) year or more." Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-81.

In the instant case, the State presented insufficient evidence to prove that Williams was convicted of grand larceny in 1992 and, also, that he was sentenced to one (1) year or more on if he was, in fact, convicted of that charge. Significantly, the alleged certified copy of the 1992 conviction does not appear as an exhibit; it was not listed as such in the court reporter's official transcript, and the record contains nothing regarding this conviction aside from the State's bare assertion of such and Williams' acknowledgment that he "was convicted twice previously."

This Court's opinion in *Vince v. State*, 844 So. 2d 510, 517-18 (¶22-26) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003), is controlling of this issue. In *Vince*, the State sought to prove that the defendant therein was a habitual offender under Section 99-19-81, by producing "an NCIC compilation of a defendant's criminal history" at the sentencing hearing. *Vince*, 844 So. 2d. at 517 (¶21-22). The court in *Vince* did not reach the issue of whether the NCIC document was sufficient to establish the defendant's

status a habitual offender; instead, the court held that the State failed to prove the defendants habitual status beyond a reasonable doubt because the NCIC document was not a part of the record, did not appear as an exhibit, and was not listed as such in the court reporter's official transcript. *Id.* at 517 (¶22). Accordingly, the court vacated Vince's sentence, reversed and rendered the judgment finding him a habitual offender, and remanded the case for the sole purpose of re-sentencing. *Id.* at 517 (¶22), 519 (¶30).

The instant case is indistinguishable in any material particular from *Vince*. The alleged certified copy of Williams' 1992 grand larceny conviction is not a part of the record; it does not appear as an exhibit; and it is not listed as such in the court reporter's official transcript. Williams acknowledgment that he was "was convicted twice previously" does not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he was specifically convicted of the 1992 felony of grand larceny, and it certainly does not establish that he was sentenced to a term of one (1) year or more on that charge. Consequently, the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Williams was a habitual offender under Section 99-19-81, and this Court, pursuant to *Vince*, should vacate Williams' sentence as to his habitual status, reverse and render the judgment finding him a habitual offender, and remand this case for re-sentencing.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING WILLIAMS' MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

On appeal, determinations of reasonable suspicion and probable cause are subject to de novo. Floyd v. City of Crystal Springs, 749 So. 2d 110, 113 (¶11) (Miss. 1999) (citing Ornelas v. United States, 517 U.S. 690, 699, 116 S.Ct. 1657, 1663 (1996)). Also, "the trial judge's findings [are reviewed] using the applicable substantial evidence'/'clearly erroneous standard." *Id.* (citing McNeal v. State, 617 So. 2d 999, 1007 (Miss. 1993)). Under Mississippi law, it is well-established "that the

provisions for search and seizure are strictly construed against the state and in favor of the citizen." Barker v. State, 241 So. 2d 355, 358 (Miss. 1970). "If a search [or seizure] is deemed unreasonable, then all evidence seized during that search [or seizure] is inadmissible for the jury or court to consider as evidence of the defendant's guilt." McFarlin v. State, 883 So. 2d 594, 598 (¶9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (quoting Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 30, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968)).

A. The officers did not have authority to arrest Williams.

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