IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES CALVIN WILLIAMS

VS.

4

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPELLANT

NO. 2008-KA-1767

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN OVERRULING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS

In the Second Assignment of Error, the Appellant asserts that the trial court erred in overruling his motion to suppress. In that motion, the Appellant alleged that the police officers did not have probable cause to arrest him, and did not have grounds for a $Terry^{I}$ stop. As relief,

¹ Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 22 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968).

he sought the suppression of evidence found in consequence of his arrest or detention. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 12).

There was a hearing on this motion. In the course of that hearing, Officer Kyle Stewart testified that he was on patrol in the area of Martin Luther King Avenue at twenty minutes past two on the morning of 30 August 2007. A brother officer, Brandon Jones, was also on patrol at that time with him.

They observed the Appellant riding a bicycle on a sidewalk in front of a school. The bicycle had no reflectors. The bicycle was in violation of city ordinance on account of the lack of the reflectors. Stewart further testified that it was unusual to find a person riding a bicycle in that area at that time of night. Stewart and Jones decided they wanted to talk to the Appellant about the fact that he was riding a bicycle on a sidewalk and that the bicycle did not conform to city ordinance.

As the officers got out of their car, the Appellant proceeded around the car, in what appeared to be an attempt to flee. The officers gave loud, verbal commands to stop, but the Appellant kept on. Jones then gave chase, the Appellant attempting to build speed. After about fifty yards, though, the Appellant wrecked his bicycle in the middle of the street.

Both officers got to the Appellant and attempted to put handcuffs on him. The Appellant, though, resisted the officers and kept trying to reach for something in his waistband. At some point, a gun fell out of the Appellant's waistband. After this happened, the officers were able to complete their object of handcuffing the Appellant.

The decision to stop the Appellant arose from the facts that he was riding on a sidewalk, riding a bicycle that had no reflectors, and because it was very late at night. The area is also a high - crime area. It is contrary to Hattiesburg's ordinances to ride a bicycle on a sidewalk, and

to ride one that does not possess reflectors.

The trial court found that the officers had "adequate reason" to approach the Appellant. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 2 - 11). We bear in mind here the standard of review appurtenant to the claim that the trial court erred in denying relief on the motion to suppress. *Rainer v. State*, 944 So.2d 115 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

Here, the Appellant begins his argument by alleging that the officers had no probable cause to effect an arrest at the time they first observed him. While conceding that it is a violation of Hattiesburg's ordinances to ride a bicycle on a sidewalk, he asserts that a violation of that ordinance is not an indictable offense under Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-3-7(1) (Supp. 2008). Thus, says the Appellant, he could not have been properly arrested without a warrant for violating that ordinance.

The Appellant also admits that it is a violation of the city's ordinances to ride a bicycle in a public street without reflectors on the bicycle. But he says he was not riding such a bicycle in the street. He further claims that Miss. Code Ann. Sections 63-7-7 and 63-7-13(4) set out safety equipment requirements for bicycles driven on highways.

The Appellant's argument apparently rests upon a rather recondite area of the law, that being the question of whether violations of municipal ordinances are "indictable offenses", in the context of warrantless arrests under Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-3-7(1) (Supp. 2008). In *Letow v. United States Fidelity and Guaranty Co.*, 120 Miss. 763, 83 So. 81 (1919), a Hattiesburg policeman made a warrantless arrest of a person who had violated an ordinance which prohibited the obstruction of sidewalks. The arrest was justified under the version of what is now Section 99-3-7 then in force. The Court held that a warrantless arrest for violation of a city ordinance which did not incorporate State misdemeanor laws could not be upheld under that section, violations of ordinances not being "indictable offenses" under that section. For a warrantless arrest for a violation of a city ordinance that does not embody State law misdemeanors, there must be an ordinance adopted providing that authority for the city's police officers. On the other hand, police officers may make warrantless arrests for misdemeanor State law offenses committed in their presence under Section 99-3-7. *City of Hattiesburg v. Beverly*, 123 Miss. 759, 86 So. 590 (1920).

The Appellant's attempted point, then, is that the officers in the case at bar could not make a warrantless arrest for riding a bicycle on a sidewalk or for failing to have reflector on the bicycle since those vices are such by operation of ordinance and not by statute. The record appears to be silent as to whether Hattiesburg's police officers have been authorized to make warrantless arrests for violations of ordinances which do not embody State misdemeanor laws.

The Appellant did not raise this issue in the hearing on the motion to suppress. What he did assert was that the attempted stop was pretextual; that the officers had no articulable suspicion that the Appellant had committed or was about to commit a crime; that the provisions of law concerning reflectors only applied to bicycles operated on a road; and a claim (without evidence) that the "statute" concerning riding a bicycle on a sidewalk had never been enforced. That being so, he may not here raise the issue of whether a person who violates a city ordinance may be arrested under Section 99-3-7. *Smith v. State*, 986 So.2d 290 (Miss. 2008)(objection on one or more grounds operates as a waiver of all other grounds). Assuming for argument that the lack - of - authority argument is before the Court, there is no merit in it.

The Appellant, in claiming that the officers had no authority to arrest him without a warrant, forgets or ignores a fundamental fact. That fact is that the officers did not intend to arrest the Appellant when they first espied him. They merely intended to warn him that he was in

violation of at least one city ordinance. Whether the officers could have arrested the Appellant without a warrant on account of his violation of the ordinances is neither here nor there in view of this. So far as we have been able to determine, there is nothing in the law regarding arrests for violations of municipal ordinances that prohibits police officers from detaining a violator for the purpose of pointing out to him the fact that he has offended an ordinance.

The officers were on patrol in a high crime area, late at night, and they saw the Appellant committing one or more violations of city ordinances. They simply wished at that point to give the Appellant a warning. They had more than an "articulable suspicion" that the Appellant was in violation of the law. The Appellant fled instead of stopping and speaking with the officers. The officers unquestionably had the right to stop the Appellant for his violation of the city ordinance and inform him of the fact that he was in such violation.

Entirely aside and independent of municipal law issues, the officers and had every right to chase and detain the Appellant when he fled. *Carr v. State*, 770 So.2d 1025, 1028 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). The Appellant's flight was unprovoked; the officers plainly had the right to detain him. *Illinois v. Wardlow*, 528 U.S. 119, 120 S.Ct. 673, 145 L.Ed.2d 570 (2000). The Appellant was not simply going about his business: He was in violation of the law regardless of whether the officers were empowered to arrest him, and he fled. In the event, the Appellant was not arrested because he was riding an improperly equipped bicycle on a city street. He was arrested on account of the fact that, after he was detained, he was found to be a felon in possession of a firearm. He could just as well have been arrested for failure to obey a lawful order of a law enforcement officer. *Qualls v. State*, 947 So.2d 365, 372 - 373 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

Even if this Court were to find that the Appellant was arrested without warrant for violating a city ordinance, and that the arrest was improper, this would not require this Court to

find error in the trial court's decision to overruled the motion to suppress. If indeed the officers thought they had the right to make an arrest under Section 99-7-3 for a violation of a city ordinance that did not embody some State misdemeanor, and if indeed Hattiesburg had no ordinance granting authority for arrest, this would amount to a mistake of law on the part of the officers. The officers clearly had probable cause to believe that the Appellant was in violation of the ordinance. Their mistake, if any, again assuming that the Appellant was arrested for the violation of the ordinance, would have been in being unaware of the subtle difference between the ability to make a warrantless arrest for State misdemeanors committed in their presence and making arrests without a warrant for violations of ordinances which do not incorporate a State misdemeanor. Such a mistake should not invalidate the arrest, given the fact that there was clearly an objective basis for them to believe that the Appellant had violated the ordinance. *Moore v. State*, 986 So.2d 928 (Miss. 2008); *Loveless v. City of Booneville*, 972 So.2d 723 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

As we have said, the officers clearly had cause to chase after and detain the Appellant under *Terry v. Ohio*. Anticipating this, the Appellant claims that what the officers did afterwards resulted in an improper seizure of the Appellant's gun. He claims that the officers had no reason to think that the Appellant might be armed and that they should not have conducted a pat - down of the Appellant. He claims that what was done here was similar to what occurred in *Carr*, *supra*, after that appellant was detained.

The facts here are not similar to *Carr* in that respect. Here, the officers testified that the Appellant resisted them when they caught the Appellant. As the Appellant struggled with the officers, he began to attempt to reach an object stuck in his waistband. The officers did suspect

that the object might be a weapon. In the event, though, the gun fell out of the waistband in the course of the struggle. The police officers, unlike what occurred in *Carr*, did not search the Appellant's clothing. The Appellant only ceased resisting when one of the officers drew his weapon. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 5 - 6; 83 - 84). The gun fell out in the course of the struggle. There was no pat - down for a weapon.

Even had the gun not fallen out of the Appellant's waistband, the officers would have been justified in conducting a pat - down of the Appellant's person. They testified that the Appellant's actions suggested that he was armed, and what they could see tended to corroborate their suspicion. Had the Appellant not resisted the officers, they would have properly conducted the pat down, and had they done so, they would have properly relieved the Appellant of his weapon. *Wardlow, supra*. There was nothing at all unreasonable about the officers' actions.

In summary, the facts here clearly demonstrate that the Appellant committed one or more violations of Hattiesburg's ordinances in the presence of Hattiesburg police officers, late at night and in a high crime area. The officers attempted to detain the Appellant to inform him that what he was doing was contrary to city ordinance. They did not intend to arrest the Appellant. There was no foul in this, and the Appellant presents no authority to suggest otherwise. The officers did not attempt to detain the Appellant for no reason other than the fact that the Appellant was in a high crime area.

The Appellant fled, and his flight was unprovoked. The officers had every reason and right to chase him and detain him. The Appellant resisted. The gun fell from his waistband. There was no pat -down, though certainly one would have been permissible in view of the Appellant's action in trying to reach the gun and what the officers could see of what was in the Appellant's waistband. The officers had every right to protect themselves by preventing the

Appellant from having access to it. The Appellant was arrested, as best as we can tell, when the officers discovered that the Appellant was a convicted felon who, in their presence, had been in the possession of a handgun. The Appellant was not arrested because he had been riding an improperly equipped bicycle on a city sidewalk. The trial court was correct in denying relief on the Appellant's motion to suppress.

The Second Assignment of Error is without merit.

3. THAT THE TRIAL COURT SUSTAINED THE OBJECTION MADE BY THE DEFENSE TO THE TESTIMONY OF THE WITNESS MITCHELL

The State called a Mark Mitchell, a sergeant on the Hattiesburg police force, to testify as to the results of a "trace" he had performed on the Appellant's gun. The prosecutor at trial had the sergeant explain how the "trace" was performed. When the prosecutor asked the witness about the results of the "trace" performed on the Appellant's gun, the defense objected the ground that the results of the "trace" would be irrelevant. The defense further stated that there was no allegation that the Appellant came by possession of the gun through illegal means. The trial court delayed its ruling, stating, "Let's see where this is going". (R. Vol. 2, 94 - 98).

The sergeant then testified that the original purchaser lived in Purvis, Mississippi and that the gun was originally purchased on 22 January 1999. There was no record found to show how the Appellant came into possession of the gun. The sergeant testified that the Appellant's name did not appear in the course of the "trace" did not mean that the Appellant came into possession of the gun illegally. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 98 - 99).

With the examination of the witness completed, the prosecutor moved to for a ruling on the objection made by the defense, and to admit Mitchell's testimony. The defense responded that it had the same objection, that being that the testimony was irrelevant. The prosecutor then

stated it was the position of the defense that the Appellant was homeward bound when he met the police officers. The prosecutor believed he had to "combat" that position, so he wished to do so by arguing that the Appellant was not in rightful possession of the gun even if the Appellant was headed home. The trial court sustained the objection made by the defense. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 99 - 100).

Here, the Appellant asserts that the "trace" testimony was irrelevant. He further asserts that it was highly prejudicial under M.R.E. 403.

It is unnecessary to consider whether this testimony was irrelevant, in view of the trial court's ruling. Since the trial court sustained the defense objection, the Appellant is in no position to complain of that ruling.

As for the M.R.E. 403 claim, there was no objection made on the basis of that rule. The Appellant may not be heard to urge error in the Court for that reason. *Edwards v. State*, 838 So.2d 990, 993 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

In the event that the Court should for some reason be of the mind that the M.R.E. 403 issue is before the Court, there is no basis to find that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to sustain an unmade objection based on rule 403.

While the prosecutor's reasoning concerning the purpose of this testimony is perhaps abstruse, the Appellant was not harmed by it. The "trace" testimony did not establish that the Appellant came by possession of the gun in consequence of an illegal act. Indeed, there was no testimony that the gun was reported stolen. The sergeant admitted that Appellant might have innocently come into possession the gun (holding aside for the moment the fact that the Appellant was not by law permitted to possess a firearm). There was nothing in the testimony to show or imply that the Appellant had stolen the gun. Consequently, there was nothing in it to

prejudice the Appellant. It may be, as the Appellant suggests here, that the circumstances of how the Appellant came into possession of the gun were not particularly important in a prosecution of a felon in possession of a firearm, but the fact remains that the Appellant was not prejudiced by this "trace" testimony.

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